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DATE: JUNE 3, 1975 

INTERVIEWEE: MR. A. M. (Monk) WILLIS 

INTERVIEWER: MICHAEL L. GILLETTE 

PLACE: Mr. Willis I office in the U.S. Capitol, Washington, D. C. 

Tape 1 of 2 

G: Mr. Willis, why don't we start with your background. 

W: I arn a native of Richrnond, Virginia. I went to Texas after the war, 

after I had been in the Navy overseas, and went to Dallas, Texas. 

I got rnarried to a Texas girl and went into a field that I had been in 

before the war, the field of insurance. 

I had been somewhat interested in politics a good part of my life. 

My father had been an early contributor, because we were kin to hirn, 

to Harry Byrd of Virginia, and was arnong thos e that financed Mr. Byrd' s 

carnpaign for governor when he was elected governor of Virginia. 

I went to Washington and Lee University and to Harvard Business 

School. I I got s ornewhat disturbed about Mr. Roosevelt l s packing of 

the SupJ;lerne Court. After I left Harvard and went to work in New York 
,\ 

just before the war, I was introduced to Wendell Wilkie. I got to know 

hirn pretty well. He was very, very kind to me, and I helped write 

sorne of his speeches. I obviously didn't do too well, because he got 

beaten pretty badly. 

When I rnoved to Texas I was interested in politics, and it was 
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obvious that Texas was a one-party state for all intents and purposes. 

I had read about Mr. Johnson and first met him in 1948 in his cam-

paign for the Senate. I was very much interested in that ca'mpaign, 

very strong for Mr. Johnson. We moved to Longview. Through 

Baile y Sheppard, who was a great friend of Ed Clark's, a great friend 

of Jake Pickle's and many other people, I got to know Mr. Johnson. 

He was looking for help then and he would take on most anybody. In 

my particular town of Longview, we had a newspaper that was edited 

by a man named Carl Estes. Carl happened to be a friend of mine 

and purportedly was a friend of Johnson's. But he was a somewhat 

dangerous man to be friends with. In the first primary, Mr. Johnson 

carried my county of Gregg. The truth of the matter is that we had 

a bloc of votes in Gladewater which we'd put a little money into to 

try to get the vote out, and we were succes sful. The second time 

around, the second primary, they carne back for a little more help, 

and we didn't give it to them because we didn't have the money. They 

accommodated us by voting against us. So fhe county switched; it was 

one of the few counties in Texas that switched its voting. Carl Estes 

thought Mr. Stevenson was going to win, so he turned against 

Mr. Johnson during the so-called long count. They had some right 

bitter words, and while their friendship went on as long as Carl Estes 

lived, I would not say that it was ever as deep as it was before. I 

think it was like so many things in politics; it was sort of an armed truce. 
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Mrs. Johnson had a friend narned [Eugenia] Lasseter who was 

supposed to be a great friend of hers. During subsequent years 

she professed great personal friendship for Mrs. Johnson but was 

an active Republican and moved to Henderson away from the 

Longview paper and became a Republican precinct chairman. 

It was during that 1948 campaign that I got to know John Connally. 

Now for those of us that were county managers, John Connally was 

the man that we dealt with the most. We would always see Lyndon 

when he carne through the area. We would always get in the car and 

go with him. He couldn ' t have been nicer, but he always treated you 

like you were on his payroll; he was a pretty rough taskrnaster. He 

was very, very kind to me, very appreciative, had a well-run staff 

that was very thoughtful; of course I'm sure they did all that for him. 

I remember one day during the campaign him corning to Longview. 

We were going out to see a particular man. It was out on the edge of 

Longview, and I missed it by one street --it was a small building 
I 

I never heard such "oh's" as went on. But he generally forgave you. 
I: 

He could lose his temper pretty fast. He put the pressure on you to 

raise campaign funds. 

G: Do you think this losing his temper was something done intentionally 

to correct deficiencies in his aides, or do you think it was just a release? 

W: I just think it was his way. I think it was because he was a total 

politician. In my judgment, that ' s all he really thought about. As 
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I get on to my later realtionship with him, I'll tell you what I think 

moti vated some of it. 

G: What about Carl Estes? You said he was dangerous to be friends with. 

\""1: What I mean by that is he was an extremely able, remarkable man, 

but he was very complicated. He was sort of an egomaniac, I would 

say, and he was a person that had very strong opinions. I'm not 

sure that the people of any county want to be told how to vote or that 

everything is all right and everything is black and white. Carl 

would put it on the basis of "there is only one side, and that's my side. " 

Well now, people sort of got tired of that. I think he cost Johnson 

some votes. 

G: You say he switched over to Stevenson. 

W: Well, at the end of the long count, at the end of the second primary 

before Mr. Johnson had been declared the winner. 

G: Did Senator Johnson try to persuade him to come back in his camp? 

W: Of course the election was over then, and it really didn't make any 

difference what happened [from] then on. He ran against somebody 

in the fall campaign. It's been so long ago I have even forgotten who 

that was. But Johnson won it; he got a lot of votes against him, but 

he won it easily from whoever the Republican was. 

That wasn't even the campaign. The campaign was against 

Coke Stevenson. He ran second in the initial primary, and then he 

overcame it and won it by 87 votes, as you know. And of course 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



Wi Hi s - - I - - 5 

they have always talked about George Parr and JiITl Wells County 

and smne of those- counties down there in South Texas. There was 

a great deal of finagling going on 0 ver just south of us in San Augustine 

and Son'le of those counties. I\;one of the press has ever printed that 

to ITly knowledge. 

G: Other Johnson caITlpaign workers in that cam.paign have indicated that 

they were counted out in several counties over there. 

W: I don't think they were in Gregg County; we had voting ITlachines over 

there. I think Johnson thought they were. He thought that the ITlan 

who later became county judge helped count him [out], or somebody 

taITlpered with the ITlachines. But I will as sure you that's not true. 

If there had been any taITlpering, I would have done the taITlpering for 

Johnson. So I don't think that \'vas true. I ITlean, there \vasn't any 

wa y to taITlpe r. 

G: Are you fan'liliar w-ith any other counties in which discrepancies 

ITlight havl'! taken place? 

W: Just in San Augustine, and I have heard in Dallas County but I am 

not knowledgeable of it. And of course other than what you read in 

the papers, I am quite confident that there was something untoward 

against Johnson's interest that happened in San Augustine County, 

but how many votes there were I can't say. Of course my real 

contact with Lyndon Johnson comes after this. I was just telling you 

about my initial association with him. 

G: Right. Was it difficult to get Johnson supporters in that area that you 
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worked in that campaign? 

W: After the second primary it became very difficult because of course 

as you know, in 1948 Harry Truman made a stand for civil rights. 

And of course that was very unpopular. My area over there in deep 

East Texas is not unlike Alabama and Mississippi. Someone told me 

once that by whatever standard it is that you measure ignorance or 

illiteracy, illiteracy I suppose, that right to the edge of Longview 

there and to Southeast Texas is number one. I don't know, I've just 

heard that. They had a tremendous amount of prejudice and deep 

feelings, and Johnson bore the brunt of a great deal of it. 

Of course, I was attracted to him because he was a doer. He 

could get things done, and he was a tremendous activist. He was one 

of the smartest judges of peoplc. I attribute some of it to his tremen-

dous staff with Walter Jenkins, who I think is, by all odds, one of fhe 

best staff men that I have ev,~r known in my life. 

G: Can you give me an examplc of Johnson judging someone correctly 

early on in their relationship or being able to size people up very 

accurately? 

W: I think the people that have been associated with Johnson through the· 

years [are examples]. I think he sized up people like Ed Clark, 

Ray Roberts, John Connally, Cecil Burney down in Corpus Christi, 

John Singleton who is a Federal judge down in Houston, Joe Kilgore, 

John Peace over in San Antonio, many many people that you could 
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name just as fast as you could talk. Mr. Johnson was a tough man 

to be friends with because he demanded so much, and it wasn 't what 

you had done for him yesterday, it was what you were going to do 

for him today. He didn't care anything about inconveniencing you or 

anything like that. In other words, we were all supposed to be 

dedicated to the common good, I guess, and the common good was 

his welfare. Now in my judgment there is nothing wrong with that, 

because if you are going to get to the top. . . . Texas never did 

understand the tremendous power- -they understand it now- -that they 

had in this Congress with Mr. Johnson and Mr. Rayburn. They never 

did appreciate it. I have been to Tyler, Texas when the oil people 

booed Sam Rayburn. They never, never did appreciate what those 

men did. 

G: I've read Senate and Congressional liberals accusing Senator Johnson 

and Speaker Rayburn of being captives of the oil industry in Texas, 

and yet it seems that they were opposed by the --

W: That's total bunk. 

I!, 

G: --big oilmen. 

(Pause in recording) 

W: Like so lllany things In Texas, no matter what the given reason for 

opposition was, it was basically racism. In some respects, it was a 

lack of understanding. You see, some of the oil people had participated 

in the running of hot oil and the making of enormous amounts of money 

and they hadn 1t gotten caught in their wrongdoings. They sort of 
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thought they were a separate group of people who had some divine 

rights of econo·mic gain. I happen to think the depletion allowance 1S 

right, because it's the only thing that gives incentives for productivity. 

But if you are up here in Washington or have been, you recognize the 

enormous anti-Texas and anti-oil feeling in this country. It has now 

grown to possibly a rnajority, probably a m.ajority. But in those days, 

it was sort of "heading them. off at the pass, II at which Mr. Rayburn 

was the rnost effective, and Mr. Johnson joined him. 

G: What was your next association with LBJ after that? 

R: Of course as he did everything else, after his election in 1949 

Mr. Johnson was busy getting him.self established up here in the Senate 

He began to build a skeleton organization in Texa s out of the 1948 

carnpaign. We did not hear from. him. as frequently from. the period of 

1949 to 1952. Everybody was sort of getting himself established just 

as Mr. Johnson was. Now as you know, in 1952 with Eisenhower, the 

DerrlOcratic Party was under great attack in Texas. I would say that 

Mr. Rayburn was rnore interested in the solidarity of the Dem.ocratic 

Party than anybody else was. Mr. Johnson gave him. som.e help. 

Mr. [Ralph] Yarborough was a newcom.er to the scene, and he got in it 

to a certain extent, too. For m.yself, m.ost of m.y friends were voting 

for Eisenhower; I voted for Stevenson, did what I could in Gregg County. 

We got murdered in the sam.e way that m.ost places in Texas did. But 

I thought Stevenson was a first-rate m.an. I didn't think he particularly 
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was one that was popular in Texas, but I was drawn to the magnitude 

of his intellect, his ability to speak, those kinds of things. I thought 

Shivers put on a first- rate facade, and I:thought he did a good deal of 

demagoguing and he did it very effectively. Of course, Shivers was an 

excellent politician. So then we go on up to after 1952 really. I mean, 

we had a few rallies in 1952, a few things we were asked to do: getting 

a group of cars to go to some rally at some other place, or having a 

rally in Gregg County, or whatnot, which v,Teren't very significant and 

weren't very successful. Eisenhower was very magnetic, very attract-

ive down there. 

After that there was a good deal of divis ion within the Democ ratic 

Party about what to do. Mr. Johns on at that time wasn't as vocal about 

it still as Mr. Rayburn; he had not pushed us. He had sent Cliff Carter 

around to organize his counties. At that time we organized theIn by 

districts, congressional districts and senatorial districts. I always 

had a congressional district Inysel£. I was campaign 1Ylanager, they 

called them in thos e days. Then they changed it to coordinator; I don't 
\i 

know when"they did all that, but it didn't make any difference, that's 

what you have to do. We would always have to do the precinct conven-

tions. I gues s I named every delegate that ever went out of there to 

the convention. I would always try to balance them off, put s OIne of 

each group on there. We got along very successfully. I believe in 

giving the small counties a representation. We would give them some 
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represented Texas interests in the National Convention, and t'hey 

became very loyal to Mr. Jo'hnson because of t'hat. I remember 

very well sending people from Camp County, w'hich is a very small 

county, to the National Convention, and Panola County, which is a 

very small county, those kinds of things. Tyler would always want 

to bog it all, but we tried to keep that from happening, and that was 

the reason I did it for a long time. 

I remember one time I wasn't particularly for Yarboroug'h, but I 

felt very strongly opposed to S'hivers trying to lead the Democratic 

dele gation to Chicago in 1956. Mr. J olmson called IT1e and s s.id he 

wanted to 'head it, or asked what I t'houg'ht about it. Of course I told 

'him that we would get murdered in Gregg County and of course for 

myself I hoped 'he wouldn't do it, but I would stand up [for him]. He 

said he would let me know. We talked a while. Of course, he didn't 

let me know; 'he had Walter Jenkins call me and let me know. T'hat 

meant IIstand up and let t'hem pour it on you. II Of course, that tirne 

the Jo'hnson forces won overwhelmingly. I went to Dallas, and we 

then went to ... Austin I gues s it was. I don't remember w'here 

the second convention was. But I was made a delegate to C'hicago, 

and that was one of the times t'hat I really got to know Jo'hnson the best. 

I stayed with Connally in there. I had the job in the delegation of 

handling the credentials for everybody that was a delegate up there 

to Chicago in 1956. So Igotto know a lot of people in Texas, and it 
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was a good opportunity for me to meet them: Jay Taylor, Cecil Burney, 

and just countless people from over the state, tremendous people, long 

before some of the johnny-come-Iatelys who got in it later. My good 

dear and beloved friend Marvin Watson, I think, was for Eisenhower in 

those days. I never saw him; he was running around. 

G: Do you have any convention stories? 

W: Yes, I was going to tell you. One of the fascinating things to me was 

taking a phone call from Ambassador Kennedy for Mr. Johnson. I 

didn't listen to the conversation. I heard one end of the conversation 

and then what was repeated afterwards, that he had solicited Johns on's 

help for Jack Kennedy for Vice President. Of course, Johnson had 

put on some kind of campaign for the presidency which was a little 

amateurish but it served the purpose. John Connally had really come 

on strong and impressed people a great deal. The great thing for me 

was to meet people like Tom Corcoran and Jim Rowe and people who 

had been identified with the Democratic Party for many years and who 

were so strong for a Johnson-Kennedy relationship. I remember very 
II 
\" 

well then the difficulty that Mr. Rayburn had in accomrnooating himself. 

but he did it very bravely in finally supporting Jack Kennedy. We had 

gone with Albert Gore, whom nobody in the delegation wanted to be for. 

It was obviously a political maneuver. 

G: The objective, I suppose, was to defeat Kefauver, wasn't it? 

W: Yes. But I remember I got some telegrams from Longview saying 
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"Why Gore? Why Gore?" I've still got those telegraIns. Of course, 

they were delivered on the convention floor and it was sort of a joke. 

I don't think we did very well for our image. 

But one time in Chicago, one of the most interesting tiInes that 

r have ever had, I was up in a hotel rOOIn and there were only, r guess 

four or five there. I remeInber Lyndon Johnson talking about his great 

need ••• the way he put it, that he owed so Inuch to Lady Bird and the 

fact that he was determined to, as it were, pay her back and Inake 

people respect her. It was then that I had an insight which I'm sure 

many people that were more intimate with him had many years before, 

of his absolutely tremendous drive. Then I realized that what he really 

wanted to be was President of the United States. He never said that, 

but it was obvious, because you know, the Johnsons never did make it 

socially in Austin until after Johnson became President, and then with 

only a certain amount of the people. The girls got in a good sorority 

but not necessarily the one they wanted to get in, like many other people. 

This bugged Johnson a great deal, and he felt extremely frustrated and 

determined about it. He said that Mrs. Johnson had helped him 

financially and he was determined to pay her back. That was one of 

the most memorable insights for me that I have had into him. 

G: I have never heard that one. Was Mrs. Johnson much help in this 

context? 

W: Mrs. Johnson was always much help. She is absolutely the number one 
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lady in this country. 

G: Was she a good caIYlpaigner? 

W: The best, because she cared about you. She was SIYlart as a whip, 

knew when to talk and when not to talk. But she cared about those 

that she knew cared about theIYl. 

G: Did she ever exert differences of opinion with regard to caIYlpaign 

strategy or anything? 

W: Oh, every now and then she would to a few of us, but she never 

openly. . . . I think she was more of a calming influence for 

Mr. Johnson, and I think she would do it maybe in private, I don't 

know. I've always wondered how much 'private' Johnson ever had. 

I mean, he was always politicking. You know, they accused him of 

doing this or that that I never would believe in because I don't ever 

believe he had time to do anything but politic. That was all he was 

ever interested in. 

G: I have often imagined her role in the campaign as smoothing feathers 

that he had ruffled. 
1,1 

" 

W: She was smoothing feathers with those of us that were in the field or 

we re [in] s orne kind of public U:>osition:]. 

G: Did this ever happen to you? 

W: No. No. I mean, we had a time or two. We had a rather unpleasant 

atmosphere in Longview because the feeling was so deep against 

Mr. Johnson. As I tried to tell you before, it was rooted in racism 
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and civil rights. The hate over there is just unbelievable and was 

unbelievable. You would only have to live through it to know it, and 

I lived through it. I remember one time at that convention in 1956, 

my best friend said, "Monk, now don't corne down there and corne in 

that precinct convention, becaus e ,ve are going to put the mud to you. " 

I went down there and stood up for Johnson. Of course, I had about 

twenty of my friends and everybody else was black; just me and the 

blacks. It was all a race thing. 

G: I take it by that, then, that the blacks did support LBJ. 

W: Yes, but the blacks' problelTI is they don't vote. I mean, they're so 

very hard to organize. I have a trelTIendous rapport with the blacks. 

But Mr. Johnson cared lTIore than anybody about the blacks. You see, 

we had to go through that long tilTIe of history of trying to change. I 

guess the man that helped change it most [was] a fellow named 

Andy Anderson, a black man in Austin who is a great friend of mine, 

and he couldn't d'D it by himself. The old deal was the 'Uncle Torn' 

deal where I;they would want to get paid for working in a campaign. 

G: What about S. Y. Nixson in Longview? Did he give you any [support]? 

W: S. Y. was always for Yarborough. He and I always got along well, but 

up until Johns on became President, he was always for Yarborough. 

I think S. Y. Nixs on is basically a good man. He's not the smartest-

man I ever met; he's not what I call "broke out with brains, II particularly 

'walking around' sense, which is thelTIost ilTIportant kind of sense. 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



Willis --1--15 

G: Do you want to continue now on the next period of involvement that 

you have, or are there any more convention incidents? 

W: Well' of course, that convention in Dallas was just unbelievable. 

There have been so nlany lies "critten about that, about what happened. 

What happened was essentially that who became National Committee-

woman or National Committeeman did not make a damn to Mr. Johnson 

originally. He was interested in getting a delegation from Texas who 

would go to the National Convention, act with some dignity, support 

the nominee of the Democratic Party, and adjourn. I mean, I don't 

think it was a great obsession that the Democratic Party win, necessarily, 

it was just not to have a public embarrassment of having a group of 

people that had no interest in it whatever. 

Now when we went to Dallas, I was in the Johnson room, in the 

Connally room, so I know what happened. The deal was, as you have 

heard many times, that they would take one and we would take one. 

They said, "'We'll take Byron Skelton." Well, everybody knew 

Byron SkEi(lton had been with the libs for a long time and had been very 
,i 

liberal, nice fellow from Temple. We didn't particularly want 

Byron Skelton, but that was the deal. We said, "Fine. We'll keep 

Mrs. Weinert." She had been down there since the Creation, I suppose. 

"Oh no, you couldn't do that. Mrs. Weinert supported Eisenhower." 

Of cours e, [it was] the same old principle that Eis enhower had gotten 

the majority of votes, so everybody that supported him ,vas cursed. 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



Willis - -1 - -16 

So then is when we said we'd take B. A., Lloyd Bentsen's wife. 

They got up there and made her take some kind of oath, pulled out 

some newspaper and everything else. You know, a \vhole lot of people 

voted for Eisenhower in 1952. 1 didn't. Frankly, 1 was attracted to 

Stevenson by his intellect as 1 told you before, but 1 don't blame any-

body for the way they felt about it. They just wanted a change in 

government. I just thought there was no use digging up the past. 

But there were terrible feelings, and of course we never had run a 

convention. Connally put us all on these different committees, the 

Credentials Committee, the Resolutions Committee, or this committee 

and that committee. All of our people did that at every convention. 

But we didn't have the staying power because there wasn't any real 

interest in it. It wa s just the fact that we wanted to get the delegates 

to support whatever Mr. Johnson wanted to support in Chicago, and 

they did. But as far as who got the other things, our people would 

leave. Finally it became obvious that we were going to lose the 

convention, so we made another deal. You know the story. 

G: You indicated that you became much closer to Lyndon Johnson in the 

following years, 1 guess in the late Fifties. 

W: Yes. Well anyway, then I.got interested in Longview in the development 

of the Sabine River. 1 worked again with Carl Estes and 1 worked with 

the leaders up and down the river on getting a survey started of the 

Sabine River. We had a congressrrlan named Lindley Beckworth, who 
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was a nice fellow, but he hadn't been very effective up here. He was 

a very nice guy, I think, an honest man. But he was sort of a loner. 

He didn't operate very well within the system. So I had come up here 

to testify to try to get a basic survey made of the Sabine River, to 

talk about flood control and building the dams later on. We had come 

and put in an appearance before the Appropriations Committee, Public 

'Works Committee. I never \\'ill forget the year we did it. I remember 

it as \vell as anything. Mr. Johnson said he would help me with it. I 

never talked to him about it daily or anything. I always saw him when 

I carne up here. I was working through Walter and some of Johnson's 

staff. He took me in there to the hearing, and they were having a damn 

conference on the thing. Senator Ellender was fixing up the bill, and I 

remember Johnson saying, "Put something in there for Monk. 11 And 

Ellender said, "Who in the hell is Monk? 'I That's the way the first 

funding got into the Sabine River, if you want to know the gospel truth. 

They did it, and with a modest amount of money, but once you get in that 

thing, they continue it, and it has now been done. So that's the way 
'II., 

[it was done]. 

Then you go through other conventions, and of course Johnson 

might put in an appearance. I'm talking about the two-year convention 

that the state Democratic Party had. Cliff Carter still was keeping up 

contact with us. We would ah,,'ays get a Christmas present or a 

reme"mbrance, a picture, a book, some kind of present or something 
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from Johnson every Christmas. I'm sure lots of other people did, 

but they have become more meaningful to me as the years have 

passed. Generally they had some personal [meaning]. He was very 

good about that kind of thing. 

In 1959 I got a call to corne down to the ranch, and we went down. 

I remeITlber it very vividly. It was fall, October. And 1 remember 

some of the people there: John Singleton, Cecil Burney, John Peace, 

among others. There was a fellow from West Texas --I've forgotten 

his name - -one of the nicest guys I have ever ITlet in ITly life. I think 

he is now dead. I have forgotten his naITle teITlporarily. There 

weren't very many of us, but he told us. what he wanted to t.:i.lk about, 

and that was that he wanted to run for President. 

G: Do you remember how he broached the subject, his words, ho\v he 

brought it up? 

W: He wasn't very subtle. The point was, "I ~ going to run, and I ~ 

going to win. II We got in that room, if you have ever been there at 

the ranch, where they have that big table. We were sitting in that 

room. We all got around that table. and he called on each of us [to 

say] what we thought. When he got to me--I never will forget it--I 

said, "First thing you've got to do is to hire Edward R. Murrow, [get] 

something to make you project on TV. You're terrible." We were 

supposed to be honest, and he took it. Some of them gave him pretty 
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rough treatment. But the most incredible thing to me was when he 

began to discuss how he was going to win. I thought Johnson was one 

of the truly great human beings that I have ever known. I still think 

so; I"ve never changed. I thought he was a good President because I 

thought he was a 'can-do,' but you can't be everything. Even after he 

had been Majority Leader, I thought he had less understanding of 

national politics than anybody I ever talked to that purported to understand. 

He started reading. He got to New York and he s aid that Cannine 

DeSapio was going to take care of New York. Well, anybody that knew 

anything about politics knew that Carmine DeSapio was headed for the pen. 

He couldn 1t influence anybody. He might 'have been a good m.an- -plenty 

of folks in the pen are all right--but that was just ridiculous. He would 

get to C olorad 0 and he would talk about Wayne As pinall and old Ed 

Johnson, who used to be a senator. Ed Johnson was running around with 

a cane. He was eighty some years old and doddering around. Wayne 

Aspinall •.• congressmen have very little influence totally in their , 

states. IMr. Rayburn proves it in Texas. He was a hero to the Fourth 
,I 
,'. 

District of Texas, but he was never a hero to the whole people of Texas. 

Thatl s one of the things that ups ets me a great deal. lIve spent SOIne 

time trying to change that in East Texas. I'm very much interested in 

the syrnposium they 've had about him. But I was absolutely astounded 

at Johnson's perception of a national campaign. 

Well, ofcours e we all went to Los Angeles and we all got HlUrdered. 
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We were assigned things in states. Our deal was very aIDateurish. 

G: Do you reIDeIDber any other conversation in that IDeeting at the ranch, 

what other people suggested, possibly other criticisID, strong points 

or weak points? 

W: Much of it had to do with how he could better project his iIDage nation-

ally. I just reITleITlber hiID going around the rOOID. I reITleITlber when 

he got to ITle, I said, "I think the first thing you've got to do is to hire 

somebody like Edward R. Murrow, or someone like him, and you've 

got to get them to teach you how to project yourself on the TV." 

G: Did he think he could get sufficient funds? 

W: Hell, when he got to West Virginia he said that old "HUlTIpty" HUTDphrey 

was going to beat Kennedy's brains out and that was going to turn it 

over to hiID. Of course he knew he could handle "HUlTIpty. " 

G: Do you think Humphrey was pretty much a stalking horse for Johnson? 

Did he support Humphrey--

W: He didn't say that, Mike. Johnson was such a dOIDinating, persuasive 

ITlan. I just think he would have put the ann on HUITlphrey. 

G: Do you think he supported Humphrey financially in that West Virginia race? 

W: He didn't say that. This was a select group of people. These were 

people that were as close to Lyndon Johnson as I guess any of his 

people. I'm sure that my name came because of the fact that I 

represented a wide area of East Texas. Most of those people were 

perhaps closer personally to him than I was, but he could not have 
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been nicer. I remember when I got there he grabbed IDe and put 

me in a station wagon. I sat right by him in the front seat, and he 

drove us all over the ranch. He \vas that kind of person. He 

probably picked out the one he wanted to work on the lnost, which 

was lne. Of course I guess the funniest thing in that calnpaign was--

I hope Mrs. Johnson never sees this--but in the fall of 1960, along 

about October, old lnan T. J. Taylor died over there in Karnack. So 

we went to the funeral, and I stood right by Johnson and Lady Bird in 

the cemetery. There weren't as lYlany people there as I thought there 

would be. I relnember Bill Moyers was there. I relYlelnber the 

preacher said. "Earth to earth, dust to dust, ashes to ashes. Alnen. II 

Johnson didn't speak to anybody. He turned to me and said, "Monk, 

how's that damn county going to do?" Talking about Gregg County. 

I said, "Just as always, Senator, 45 per cent of the vote." And that's 

what we got. You see, we had the Ku Klux Klan against us and of 

course they are really strong over there. But I never will forget that 

right at the funeral. Of course he was there as he should have been 

and he ~as doing it, but his lnind \vent right froln dropping that body 

down in that grave to saying, "Monk, how's that damn county?" 

G: Marvelous story. What was your role in that '60 campaign? 

W: I was a delegate to Los Angeles. I was a coordinator for however 

YDany counties they had over there. Worked like a dog, and I know 

that we improved that situation perceptibly over there. We had a hard 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



Willis - -1- -22 

time doing it. 

G: Did the people in his campaign like John Connally think that he 

could win in 1960? 

W: Yes, I think they did. You mean. ? 

G: That he would get the nomination. 

W: ·Who, Lyndon? 

G: Yes. 

W: Oh, I don't know. Connally and I were together a great deal of the 

time in those deals, in Chicago in' 156 and in Los Angeles in 160. 

Connally was somewhat bitter after the 1960 convention. Connally 

'is not a good loser. He is the most charismatic and most able man 

probably in America, but he is not a good loser. And of course nobody 

gets any pay for losing in politics. Nothing deader than a dead politician. 

G: There have been suggestions that John Connally was one of the few 

people who worked for Lyndon Johnson who would disagree with him 

openly. 

W: That's right. 

G: And he was very strongminded. 

W: I have the highest admiration for John Connally. There is only one 

thing that I have ever felt about him. I think he has every quality of 

character that I admire except one, and that's loyalty. I don't care 

what he says. In the great debate on who nlade whom, I think that no man 

is an island and we all depend on other people to help us along the way. 
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For myself, John Connally appointed me to the Board of Regents 

at North Texas State University. I have been the chairman of the 

board there for a long time. It ' s been one of the greatest satisfactions 

of my life. I know that John Connally did that becaus e he knew that I 

was the kind of fellow that would get involved and he believed that I 

could do it well and thought that the school needed help. But if I 

hadn't worked for Johnson in 1948, I'd have never known John Connally 

so we are all touched by somebody else, you see. I never have 

thought that Connally recognized. • •• Connally grew up in poverty, 

and he was determined not to have that again. Now he did a good 

deal for Johnson. there's no doubt about that. But they did a 

good deal for him. Connally more than anybody I ever knew knew how 

to handle pressure. He didn't succumb to pressure. He knows how to 

handle it better than anybody I've ever known. Connally talks a good 

deal, and it's true that he managed Johnson's campaign, worked even 

I 

though they barked at one another. Connally wouldn't hesitate to get 

\1. 

mad and tell him to go to hell or hang up the phone or not answer 

the phone; I've been through all that. I've been with Johnson when 

he said, "Let's call Connally," and hell, we'd search him out all 

over the country. Connally would get on the phone, and he was very 

nice, but it was obvious that it was inconvenient for him to talk to us. 

He didn't give a damn. But at the same time, Connally was three times 

governor of Texas under the Democratic ticket, he was Secretary of 
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the Navy, he has nominated a man for President of the United States 

three times. Now my biggest surprise ••.• I mean, I went to his 

trial, I'd stand up with him, and unless he told me, I'd never believe 

anything bad about him. I remember we had a celebration centennial, 

the fact that Longview was 100 years old, and I had Connally come up 

there to speak. I.introduced him to 10,000 people up there. We took 

him to dinner, and Nellie was there, and I said, "Connally, there's one 

thing I don't understand about you: how you could support Nixon. 

Nixon don't have any character. I wrote in Connally ,,,hen I voted. II 

He said, "Monk, what you don't understand is it don't take character 

to be President." Well, I happen to think it does. I guess I was a 

little bitter when Connally, I thought, used a certain amount of oppor-

tunism. He certainly didn't deserve to be indicted. But he found out 

that the biggest difficulty he had was with the Republicans themselves, 

with people like Mitchell and that kind of garbage that-did him in. I 

I 

tell you that only as the fact that I think that would have hurt 

\1 

President Johnson myself, even though he would have considered 

McGovern the same thing I did: rubbish, just a nothing. 

G: In that 1960 convention at Los Angeles. did the Johnson forces feel 

that they had certain states that slipped away from them in that 

convention? 

W: Well, they thought they had a lot of latent support. When I worked in 

Colorado I talked to people, and there was no doubt about it that Johnson 
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had a lot of second support. But they simply said, "If we get 

released, we'll be for you." What Connally was telling us was that 

he thought he could keep Kennedy from getting it. Well, it was 

obvious Kennedy had it, because we'd go to Ohio, Indiana, we'd talk 

to these people, and we had a lot of second support, there's no doubt 

about that. If we had broken that thing up or blocked it . . . . But 

Kennedy had just done his homework, and he had some kind of organiza-

tion. 

G: There was a lot of bitterness between the Kennedy and Johnson forces 

in that convention. 

W: Yes. Connally's talked about cortisone, said that Kennedy had Addison's 

Disease. Our deal I thought was pretty amateurish, but I don't blame 

Connally for that. It was a very difficult thing to do. Johnson got into 

the campaign late, Kennedy had been working at it and had things locked 

up. Johnson just carried on a very amateurish campaign from the time 

that I knew about it in October, 1959, when I told you we went to the 
I 

ranch. He didn't announce till just before the next summer and that 
\', 

was supposed to be over here at the Senate caucus room. Everybody 

knew what he was doing, but he delayed and delayed and delayed. The 

whole deal was very poorly handled. He sent a lot of guys from Texas 

who were good people, but with all due respect, they didn't know their 

ass from a hole in the ground about national politics. 

G: I guess the prevailing feeling that LBJ had in that campaign was that his 
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power and prestige in the Senate would carryover in the various 

states. 

W: Oh. he cmnpletely thought that. He 'vas the ITlaster of the Senate . 

There's nobody that's ever been or ever will be, in my judgment, 

the dominating figure in the Senate [that he was]. But he got 

confused, which was incongruous and contradictory in a way for the 

Great Society programs that Mr. Johnson really did believe in. It's 

true he wanted to be loved, and he had a great urging to be liked, and 

he had a great suspicion of the press, and he had a great suspicion 

of the fact that he wasn't acceptable to the Eastern Establishrnent. 

But he had a deep, deep, deep feeling about the people because he came 

from the people; there's no argument about that. But what I say is 

contradictory; that he thought that one person representing a state--

in other words, assuming one Democrat in each state, or in some 

states ITlaybe two; he didn't always have a big ITlajority, you know--

that he thought that thos e people could speak for all the people. That's 

gone. The only person that does that is [Mayor Richard Daley], and 

he's just got a ITlachine. Haig in J ers ey City, Curley in Boston, the 

guy in Mis souri, DeSapio in New York- -the whole story of it, that's 

gone. That's the part that was incongruous to ITle, that Johns on couldn't 

see that one person--Wayne Aspinall or Ed Johnson or Ed Brown or 

some other guy, Daley or those kinds of people--could not say, "You've 

got it." Anybody that knows anything should have understood that. 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



Willis - -1- -27 

G: Do you have any insight on Bobby Kennedy's role in the offering of 

the vice-presidential nomination? 

W: Yes. I know that Bobby Kennedy was very upset about it, and I know 

that old man Rayburn was more upset about it. The one that wasn't 

upset about it was Johnson; he knew exactly what he \vanted to do. 

But Bobby Kennedy wanted to block it. His brother understood. 

I had an offer from Jack Kennedy to help run his Texas campaign. I 

used to have some dates with his sister, Pat, years ago, who married 

[Peter] Lawford. He's the kind of guy [who] kept up '\\lith you. They 

knew where all their people were. I was invited to their parties in 

Chicago in '56 and in Los Angeles in '60 and really enjoyed it. They 

are pretty tough. I said, III belong to Johnson. 11 I '\vouldn't do it, but 

I would have been better off if I had, because I had a real good shot 

with them. When I lived in Texas, he contacted me from up here. 

G: I guess that says something about the extensiveness of their political 

W: 

G: 

organization. 
I 

The Kennedys? 
\1 
\1, 

Yes. 

W: God damn, they knew everything. They knew exactly where I \:vas. 

I'm sure they got that from the political fgelegation] list. But in 1956 

when we met again in Chicago, after that I would get a book from him, 

or a picture of him or Jackie, you know, all that nons ens e. Then he 

asked me to corne. I carne to see him in Washington. He cut off all 
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the calls, talked to me about the situation, asked:me v;.o uld I agree 

to have a part in his leadership. I said, liThe thing for you to do is 

stay out of Texas. You aren't going to get anY'vhere in Texas, and 

I'm not going to be a part of it. I think you would make a fine 

President, but I'm for Johnson." 

G: Back on Bobby Kennedy--

W: I've skipped around a little, Mike. P:m sorry. 

G: Bobby Kennedy carne here and :met with Johnson, Rayburn, and 

Connally, I think, and supposedly suggested that LBJ take the chair-

:manship of the Deluocratic National Committee [instead of the vice-

presidential nomination]. 

W: That's right. 

G: Can you recall perhaps froIT1 one of the IT1en who was in that room 

what was said? 

W: The story I got second hand was that Kennedy didn't offer it with a 

great deal of grace, that it was easy to see through. I :mean, it was 

easy to see that [it was] political, trying to salve an opponent's feelings, 

trying to keep his spirits, prestige, do him honor - -he was a big man in 

the Senate. But that got nowhere, absolutely nowhere. Jack Kennedy 

knew exactly what he was going to do, exactly. You'll never :make me 

believe anything different. He didn't get pressured into it. It was a 

cold-blooded political decision with him, of how to win, and that's 

what he made it. I think his brother tried to deter him, but I think 
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Jack Kennedy :made a cold-blooded political decision that this was 

the way to win. One, he thought Johnson had the ability, was the 

:most able person to run with hi:m. I think he thought he needed hi:m 

to run the Senate, I think he knew that he was the kind of :man that 

could have a chance of carrying Texas and do exactly ,,,,hat he did, 

which was to split up part of the South. He knew [JohnsonJ had great 

ties to Senator Rus sell; he knew he had great ties to Senator Kerr, 

all those things. I think they did consider all of that. Johnson did a 

hell of a job on that ca:mpaign. But I think Bobby and the:m were 

against it, and these idiots and this fellow Rauh, or whatever his name 

is, R-_A-U-H. 

G: Joe Rauh. 

W: Joseph Rauh. 

G: A lot of the Johnson supporters were unhappy. 

W: Oh, of course they were. I was one of the unhappy [ones]. I told 

Ji:m Rowe at Los Angeles. Of c01.. ... rse we were unhappy. Kennedy had 

not gonewell in Texas. In other words, the feeling was that he would 
\\ 

not do well. There were many :many that believed that Johnson could 

do Texas :more good and this country :more good by staying in the Senate. 

They si:mply thought that he was the best at that. I knew from that 1959 

[:meeting] in October that he had the presidential bug. I'm going to 

tell you this, and I was wrong: I had beco:me convinced that he had 

the presidential bug, but I thought he would go nuts being the 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



Willis--I--30 

Vice President, because he wouldn't have anything to do and he was 

such an active person. I thought that Kennedy was young enough and 

vigorous enough to get elected for two terms and that Johnson would 

be his Vice President for two terms, but that that would be the end of 

Johnson. I'll be honest with you. 

G: Sort of like John Nance Garner, perh9-ps. 

W: Yes. And I just thought either that they would be ready for a change 

or that they wouldn't give it to Johnson. 

G: Why do you think he accepted the nomination? I've read, for example, 

that SaITl Rayburn talked him into it. 

W: I think Mr. Rayburn changed his mind and I think did have' something 

Lto do withitJ. I don't agree that they talked him into it. Pve heard 

and read all those books on it and all the statements on it and listened 

to the people that were out there. I think Johnson did it because, by 

God, he thought that would be the best way to get to be President, that 

he would either succeed Kennedy by getting nominated next when Kennedy 

quit in 1968 or that something would happen to Kennedy. I just think 

it was as cold - blooded as that. 

G: Did he at the time express this idea in words? 

W: Oh no, he didn't express that idea. He just told us he had to do his 

duty and wrote one of those letters. 

. G: Well, he campaigned through the South on that whistle-stop tour. 

W: Yes, did fine. Did fine. We had him ••• we worked hard. We 
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worked in that cam.paign as I have never worked in one. 

G: Did you work as an advance lllan for him in any of his campaign 

trips or did you travel with him at all? 

W: Oh, a time or two, that's all. 

G: What was he like as a campaigner? 

W: Excellent. He loved the people. He loved those people. He loved 

to get out and press the flesh, shake hands with them. He loved it. 

(Interruption) 

I think he did tremendously, but Johnson's part in it was rather 

amateurish, although it was a very sincere deal. For example, the 

so -called "Lady Bird Special," or whatever it was that they ran 

through the South. We all got into that thing. That worked very well, 

but it was just put up by a bunch of amateurs. I think that Johnson 

did some things in Texas that were fairly effective because I think that 

people want to be with a winner, and I think that some people had a 

feeling that some way Kennedy would win. It never occurred to me 

that Kennedy wouldn't win. I think Johnson thought they could win. 

But I think the second thing that Johnson thought--this is just common 

sense--was that if they lost that he would have paid his debt to the 

party and would have had a chance in '64; that if they lost the blame 

would be on Kennedy for being a Catholic and that Johnson would be 

the good person. Now my view was obviously not the right view. I 

thought they would win, and I thought that Johnson would end up being 
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like Garnero And I thought, "Here's one of the most able Inen in 

the country that's going to be used up." And we couldn't afford it, 

the country couldn't afford it. There were just different views of it. 

Do you follow that? 

G: Right. It has been suggested that in the campaign that Johnson had an 

extraordinary ability say when speaking to a crowd to determine the 

composition of that crowd while he was speaking. 

IV: Oh, he was the best at that you ever saw. One of the things that always 

amazed me about both Johnson and Connally was when you'd go out with 

them, just say going out and eating lunch with them, which I have done 

countless times. They would get up and work a cro'wd, and so ITlany 

other politicians I have worked with wouldn't get up and wouldn't speak 

to people at the next table. Johnson and Connally ,vould get up and 

work the whole crowd, walk back in the kitchen, do the whole thing. 

G: Is that right? 

W: Yes, sir. 

G:. Did people respond positively? 

W: Oh, yes. Oh, yes. He didn't care; he made you respond positively. 

G: What would he say? 

W: Nothing, just "How are you? I'm Lyndon Johnson, II and all that. 

He never was very much of a talker. He would just grin. He knew 

how to work them and just pump them fast. One of the things that 

amazed me. I r,ead three books a week. Every night of my life I read~ 
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I can't understand it; I don't think Johnson ever read a book in his 

life. I'm sure he did at the end of his life. But it was just astounding 

to me that he was as aware and as intelligent as he was. He was a 

very, very intelligent, bright man, very keen mind. 

G: His learning, perhaps, was oral, word of mouth. 

W: Must have been. He said he taught school, but I never heard him in 

conversation refer to any particular philosophy. But he had a tremendous 

amount of common sense and as you have pointed out, he sized people up 

pretty well. There was no doubt about his ability. I happened to be in 

the same class at Harvard Business School that McNamara was. 

And I think that there was no doubt about McNamara's genius and his 

ability and his tremendous mind. But I don't think he had any common 

sense at all, and I was amazed that Johnson was so taken with him. 

You know the famous statement he made that "My pick of the lot's 

that guy with the Stay-Comb on his hair." I was astounded that he 

would let McNalnara lead him down the primrose path, and I am not 

in any way trying to detract personally from Mr. McNamara's ability 

or his dedication or his loyalty or anything else. He just wasn't a 

very practical individual. 

G: Other aspects of the Johnson treatment, his relationships with other 

people: his use of the telephone. 

W: Fabulous. 

G: It has even been suggested that he couldn't walk by a telephone without 

making a call. 
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W: That's right. That's right. I have never seen anybody use it 

[so much]. He used it a tremendous amount. 

Talking about his treatment of people, I never will forget one 

time being, I think it was, in the White House talking to old Walter 

Jenkins. The squawk box carne on and it was Johnson, and he was 

raising hell about where some paper was. One of his favorite [sayings] 

was: "Nobody is ever there when I need him. II Of course Walter just 

gave his life to him. Walter turned off the squawk box, turned around 

and started talking to me. I said, "God damn, aren't you going to do 

something about it? II He said, "Hell no, it'll turn up. I'll just screw 

it all up if I get with it. II Johnson was just the kind that wanted it done 

right now; he was very, very impatient. One of the wisest, brightest 

men he ever had with him was George Reedy, just a wonderful, 

wonderful man, one of my dear friends. Johnson used to just be 

unmerciful on George Reedy. Johnson did not like criticism much. 

As I told you, the closest I ever had to criticism. of him was not criticism. 

It had to do with the suggestion that he try to improve his ability to 

communicate with the people, which I think was always his difficulty. 

But I have been at his table at his ranch, and he would always go 

through the deal of blessing; he would make a big deal about saying the 

blessing. And then he would sort of dominate the conversation at the 

dinner table, tell stories - -some of them were pretty good, some of 

them I had heard before. But I never was afraid of him at all, and he 
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knew that. Of course, he never in any way would have tried to do that. 

But I know that he liked TIle and I know that he trusted TIle. He knew 

I was loyal. I think one of the greatest things is that in the last part 

of his presidency, he invited !TIe, as he had done before, up here to 

dinner at the White Hous e. As I "\-vent through the line, I got to hiTIl and 

he scared TIle to death: he just put his arms out and grabbed me and 

hugged me to hiTIl, practically embraced me. He turned to the 

Chancellor of Austria, whoever he was. I'TIl sure this guy didn't under-

stand one thing he said, talking about the well. He said, "This man has 

gone to the well with TIle. He has never des erted TIle.!I Now he said it 

in a way where he has gotten to that stage in life '.vhere so TIlany had 

deserted ,him on Vietnam, so lTIany people read the popularity polls, 

so many people. So it wasn't a question of loyalty. He knew that I 

would do anything he ever asked !TIe to do, anything. But I never did 

get with him whereby he would think, "Well, what do you think of this? " 

I'!TI talking about when he Was President. I have talked to him when he 

was President; he would telephone. When you wake up in the middle of 
\\ 

the night and hear that phone ring and it's the White Hous e calling. it 

scares the crap out of you. 

G: What would he call about? 

W: Oh, some damn fool thing that was happening in Tyler that he knew 

lTIore about than anybody else, or something, just to check on something. 

Now that didn't happen every day or anything like that, but it's happened. 
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G: Can you recall any? 

iN: I've forgotten. It was some kind of political thing. I might think of 

it, and if I do I'll plug it in. But I remember 'old Rayburn calling. 

He was calling about the 1961 Rule Committee change. He wanted 

to know how a certain congressman was going to vote. I said, "Hell, 

Mr. Sam, you know I don't know. He's going to say he wants to do 

what's right, and you aren't interested in what's r ignt; you're interested 

in how he's going to vote." And he said, "Yes." But sometimes they 

would call about things like that. 

G: You mentioned Johnson telling stories at the dinner table. I've read 

that he was a great imitator. 

W: Yes, he did do a lot of V.mitation~. 

G: Can you recall voices he would imitate or mimic at things like this? 

W: No, I'll get it. Let's go on. I'll plug that in to you by the time you 

[get through]. 

G: Again on the telephone, would he call people late at night--

W: I'm talking about two 0' clock in the morning. 

G: --To hnpress upon them his concern about a particular measure? 

W: Well, this had something to do with some oil man's opposition to him, 

or something like that. But it astounded me that he knew so much, 

that he was so aware of what was going on. 

G: Was Walter Jenkins, would you say, the most important man around 

Johnson? 
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W: Walter Jenkins is the Illost devoted, Illost efficient, finest public 

servant that's ever been up here in Washington. There is no better. 

He abs olutely was ideal. His judgIllent was good, everything was 

good. He gave his life to Lyndon Johnson. And there is one thing 

that I will always praise Lyndon Johnson for: he handled that 

Walter Jenkins thing like a pro, and his family never turned their 

backs on Walter Jenkins. I mean, they did what they had to do at 

that time. But that pretty near killed him, because Walter Jenkins 

was the one of all of them. You can add them; you can talk about 

everybody you want to talk about. The one that retained his character, 

his self-respect, everything about him. But the fellow that was the 

closest to Lyndon Johnson was Walter Jenkins. Don't you ever forget 

G: I have read that Jenkins more accurately than any other aide could 

speak for Lyndon Johnson. 

W: Correct. He had Illore power than anybody. 

G: 1 He could anticipate what he--

W: He could know exactly. He knew Illore about hiIll, knew everything, 

knew his strengths, weakness es, everything about hiIll. 

G: Was he useful to Johnson as an advisor on policy as well as Illerely 

an interpreter of Johnson's attitudes? 

W: No, I would say Illore of an interpreter of Johnson's actions. I think 

that's a very good question. No, Walter was the kind, as I have tried 
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to tell you, he was the one that would call us. He was the one that 

would ask us to do. And if we needed anything, [we] could call 

Mary Rather or Juanita Roberts or Mildred Stegall, Mildred particularly, 

or somebody that you knew would tend to your business. When I 

would call Juanita Roberts, who was his secretary, don't worry; I 

know how to get to President Johnson, or anybody Johnson. If I'd 

get to Walter Jenkins, I could get my message through. What I'm 

talking about is if you even called Walter sOInetimes he was with 

Johnson, so you would talk to Mildred. But I could get there. 

They knew who their people were. In other words, you didn't get any 

brush-around. 

(End of Tape I of 2) 

(Begin Tape 2 of 2) 

G: At the end of the last tape we were talking about aides that worked 

for Lyndon Johnson. You gave us the very vivid role of 

Walter Jenkins' importance. What about George Reedy? 

W: I think George Reedy had very, very sound political judgment, 

legislative judgment. But you talked about two different things, and 

you yours elf tried to draw me out about Walter. I think Walter had 

certain knowledge of legislation in the same way that I have here. 
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But the real knowledge about what would go, what would fly in the 

way of amending legislation, George Reedy had a tremendous insight 

to. He was a fellow that was respected by the press; he was a fellow 

that was respected by the labor people; he was a fellow that was 

respected by all kinds of people that were interested in legislation. 

N ow he was a plodding type of intellectual, academician in away. I 

think he has written some of the most rewarding books on government, 

and I think that he has an absolutely tremendous intellect. But you 

must remember that Mr. Johnson [did] as so many people do; it's 

very hard to handle that kind of criticism that inevitably comes to any 

President. I think the only person as [far as] I ha.ve ever heard that 

has been immune to it has been Eisenhower, in my lifetime. I mean, 

goodness, Mr. Hoover was just mauled, Mr. Roosevelt was called 

everything, Mr. Truman had the lowest [popularity rating]. 

Mr. Eisenhower was a myth; he did nothing. He was a joke as 

President, I thought the worst one in history, and so s orne polls 

said. He was obviously not as bad as Nixon. That's all. But I 
\~ 

think the kind of family criticism, public scrutiny, the unfairness 

that comes to people [in public life] is very hard to take, and 

Johnson was a very sensitive person. When George Reedy would try 

to explain some of the reasons for s orne of the criticism and how to 

alleviate it, Johnson would become offended. Then he would do 

terrible things, and then he would go ahead and buy Reedy a car, 
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some pres ent or something. He broke with so many people. I 

wasn't in a position to be in that deal, but I go back to the time at 

the White House when he gave me the [compliment]. It was a very 

moving thing for me when the President of the United States pulls 

you out of a line--I didn't know whether the Secret Service was 

going to shoot me or not- -and just tells you that your loyalty has 

meant a great deal to sustain him. I don't know what your feelings 

are, but you can't help but be moved by that. I was, because it 

was very sincere. It was the fact that he was searching for the 

people he felt had stayed with him. You know I stayed with him, but 

tlie"'point is, it wasn't quite the same because I hadn't had these 

daily decisions to make about legis lation .. " You understand. I mean, 

my deal was a different kind of i-elationship with him, but I never 

went back on it, and I still think he was one hell of a guy, and I always 

will. 

G: Can you recall the last time you were with him or talked to hilll? 

W: Yes, down at his ranch. He invited us all down there for one of the 

great tillles we had; it was when the Library opened. I saw hilll one 

time after that, but when the Library opened, he had a tremendous 

party. That was a fantastic thing. He had all us oldtimers down there. 

He did the same thing then. He was very moved about the nostalgia 

of the past. 

G: Do you think he was happy in retirernent? 
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W: No. 

G: The lack of activity, perhaps? 

W: Oh, sure. I think they all are [unhappy]. but I think particularly 

hiln. I think he had a sixth sense about his health. His faIllily 

hadn't been particularly long-liv""ing people, and I think he knew that 

his nUIllber was up, that kind of thing. 

G: I asked you earlier about Johnson's stories. Virtually everyone I 

have talked to that knew him has at least one really good anecdote, 

either one that LBJ told 0 r one that was told about hilll. 

W: I'll think about that. I'm sure I can think of one. I can't right now. 

I'm just drained out on that, but I will think about that and add that, 

s end it to you. 

G: Is there anything else that you would like to [talk about]? 

W: I don't think so. I don't know whether I've helped you at all, Mike, 

but I've done pretty much the best I can with it. I guess it was Holmes 

that said, "It is required of each of us that we share in the actions and 

passiotl,s of our tiu"le at the peril of being judged not to have lived." 

I guess if I have been able to Illake any contributions to Illy little 

cornlllunity, or to the university I serve, or up here, or wherever, 

I guess lowe Illore to Lyndon Johnson than anyone else, and to his 

faIllily and to Connally, because they gave me the opportunity, and 

I'll always be grateful. But I saw hiIll as a very hUIllan being, full 

of warts and also full of great things. He was a very cOlllplex 
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indi vidual. 

G· Thank you very rrluch. 

(End of Tape 2 of 2 and Interview 1. ) 
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